1960

State of Utah v. Sherrill Z. Chesnut : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the 5th day of February, 1960, the District Court in and for the Sixth Judicial District of the State of Utah, County of Sevier, denied the motion of the State of Utah for an order to show cause as to the defendant, Sherrill Z. Chesnut, respondent herein, said motion having been filed by the District Attorney for the Sixth Judicial District. This brief submitted herein is in support of an appeal by the Attorney General of the State of Utah from such order of the District Court in and for the Sixth Judicial District,

and is taken under and pursuant to Section 77-39-4, U. C. A. 1953, which states in part:

“An appeal may be taken by the state:
“* * *

“(3) From an order made after judgment affecting the substantial rights of the state. * * *

As a condition precedent to a discussion and development of the substantive law surrounding this appeal, it is, of course, a necessity to set forth the facts which serve as a basis for such discussion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Pursuant to a commitment, an information was filed on the 12th day of November, 1959, by the District Attorney for Sevier County, charging the respondent herein with the commission of acts against the State of Utah, to wit: Second Degree Burglary and Grand Larceny. The respondent, on the 7th day of December, 1959, after a continuance from December 3, 1959, plead “not guilty” to both counts and the case was set down for trial. On the 5th day of January, 1960, the respondent appeared before the court, withdrew his plea of “not guilty,” and substituted in place thereof the plea of “guilty to both counts” (R. 21 & 22). Having been advised by Chesnut that he would waive the time required by statute (see 77-35-1, U. C. A. 1953) for the pronouncement of judgment, the court entered judgment and sentenced the respondent in the Prison of the State of Utah for a term of not less than one year nor more than 20 years on the count of second degree burglary, and for a term of

not less than one year nor more than 10 years for the crime of grand larceny, said sentences to run concurrently.

The court thereupon suspended execution of the sentence in accordance with 77-35-17, U. C. A. 1953, and placed the respondent on probation. In doing so the court stated:

“The Court, however, in this case, suspends execution of sentence for a period at this time of sixty days until March 14, 1960, at the hour of 2:00 o'clock p. m. This suspension is on condition that you remain under the custody and supervision of your bondsman, Mr. McCarthy, and that except with his consent, I will say, that you remain outside of Sevier County, except with Mr. McCarthy's consent or in case you are summoned to appear here at any time in court and you will be required to appear, however, on March 14th and for such further action as the court might see fit to take.

“I will say frankly, this is a chance to make good without having to serve time in State Prison and if you make good on this, why there will be further extensions until you will have an opportunity to clear yourself of the matter, but that will depend on you entirely, of course. We want to give you this opportunity rather than to require you to serve, except if it becomes imperative, I will say. We see no other reasonable way, so we feel that everybody involved in this is doing it for what we feel is your best interest and that you will be duly appreciative of it and make every effort to make entirely good. Not only with us, but with your bondsman and everybody concerned, so at this time you are released to your bondsman and the bond will remain in force as it now is” (R. 22-23).

Subsequently, on or about the 4th day of February, 1960, the District Attorney for Sevier County filed with the court

a motion for an order to show cause why the suspension of the execution of sentence should not be terminated and incarceration follow forthwith. Attached to said motion were affidavits of two peace officers of the Salt Lake City Police Department, the general context of the affidavits being that this respondent had admitted to each of them his direct implication in a burglary in Salt Lake City on or about January 26, 1960. The District Court, after a consideration of the motion for the order to show cause and the affidavits upon which such motion was predicated, denied the District Attorney's request on the bases that:

“(1) That the attempted probation arrangement entered into in connection with said Stay of Execution was not within the pervue of the Statutes; that the implied obligations therof could not be legally fulfilled by the Court.

“(2) That even assuming said attempted probation arrangement to be generally valid, the terms and conditions thereof as disclosed by the record are so lacking and so indefinite and uncertain as to be unenforcible” (R. 17).

The court then ordered that the stay of execution be extended and continued until June 14, 1960, or until such time as the court may determine. This appeal is taken and directed to that order of the court denying the issuance of the order to show cause.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE DISTRICT COURT, IN PLACING THE
RESPONDENT UNDER THE CUSTODY AND

SUPERVISION OF HIS BONDSMAN, DID NOT POSITION THE RESPONDENT WITHOUT THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURT, AND IT HAD, THEREFORE, FULL AUTHORITY TO ENTERTAIN AND ISSUE AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE, TO TERMINATE PROBATION THEREAFTER AND COMMIT THE PROBATIONER.

POINT II.

EVEN WERE IT ASSUMED THAT THE ORDER SUSPENDING EXECUTION OF SENTENCE WAS INVALID, VOID OR UNCERTAIN, SUCH ORDER DOES NOT AFFECT THE FINALITY OR VALIDITY OF THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE PREVIOUSLY ENTERED BY THE COURT.

POINT III.

THE ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE IS TANTAMOUNT TO A PARDON, THE RESULT OF WHICH LIES WITHOUT THE PROVINCE, POWER OR AUTHORITY OF THE JUDICIARY.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE DISTRICT COURT, IN PLACING THE RESPONDENT UNDER THE CUSTODY AND SUPERVISION OF HIS BONDSMAN, DID NOT

POSITION THE RESPONDENT WITHOUT THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURT, AND IT HAD, THEREFORE, FULL AUTHORITY TO ENTERTAIN AND ISSUE AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE, TO TERMINATE PROBATION THEREAFTER AND COMMIT THE PROBATIONER.

The first statement that should be made, and one which is subject to little debate, is that the intention of the District Court in suspending execution of sentence was to place Chesnut on probation. The pronouncement of the court is in every way consistent and in accord with the normal and usual address wherein the convicted defendant is placed on conditional probation. The language of the court is in harmony with no other observation:

“THE COURT: I will say frankly, this is a chance to make good without having to serve time in State Prison and if you make good on this, why there will be further extensions until you will have an opportunity to clear yourself of the matter, but that will depend on you entirely, of course. We want to give you this opportunity rather than to require you to serve, * * *.

* * *.

“MR. CHAMBERLAIN: Your Honor, I would like the record to show that he is under the strict supervision and control of his bondsmen with respect to whatever—

“* * *

“THE COURT: With respect to what he does and his course of conduct. That is what I really intended—under the control and supervision.

“* * *

“THE COURT: But if the thing is justified, we will make the extensions longer. It depends entirely on, I would say, your course of conduct, which we hope will be in every way satisfactory” (R. 23-24).

To profess that the intent of the District Court and the effect of the afore-quoted language was otherwise than to place Chesnut on probation is to admit that the respondent is subject to immediate commitment to the State Prison. There is no basis to contradict the principle that a district court, in suspending sentence or execution of sentence, must proceed under and pursuant to the statutory legislation of the State of Utah.

Justice Hansen, writing for this Court in the case of *State v. Zolantakis*, 70 Utah 296, 259 Pac. 1044, 1027, stated that the district courts of this state have no power to suspend indefinitely execution of sentence. The cases in the State of California are also parallel in effect to that in Utah, in holding that the authority of a court to suspend the execution of sentence is dependent wholly upon statutory authorization, *People v. Brown*, 244 P. 2d 702 (Cal. App. 1952), that a court has no power to suspend execution other than by granting probation, and that an attempt of the court to do otherwise is void. *People v. Cravens*, 251 P. 2d 717 (Cal. App. 1953). See also *In Re Clark*, 70 Cal. App. 643, 234 Pac. 109.

The statutes of this state evidence no other conclusion. 77-35-17, U. C. A. 1953, provides in part:

“Upon a plea of guilty or conviction of any crime or offense, if it appears compatible with the

public interest, the court having jurisdiction may suspend the imposition or the *execution of sentence* and may place the defendant on probation for such period of time as the court shall determine.

“The court may subsequently increase or decrease the probation period, and may revoke or modify any condition of probation. * * *” (Emphasis added.)

Once the court determines that it is in the public interest to suspend the execution of sentence, probation and probationary status follow a fortiori. This interpretation is cemented by the *Zolantakis* decision in holding that:

“Trial courts are not given authority to suspend sentences as a matter of favor or grace, but only when ‘it appears compatible with the public interest’.”

In this connection it is well to consider the recent holding of *Baine v. Beckstead*, . . . Utah . . . , 347 P. 2d 555 (1959), wherein it was declared:

“It is to be kept in mind that *deferments of commitment* of persons convicted of crime are of two distinct types: One is probationary, the other is not.”

It would be a mistake not to say that the District Court intended, as its object in postponing commitment under the judgment pronounced in the case at bar, to place the respondent on the level of probation with the objective of achieving some measure of rehabilitation.

The order of the District Court denying the State’s motion for an order to show cause as to this respondent

indicates that the District Court felt that it no longer had jurisdiction to entertain further proceedings relative to the probationary status of respondent or subsequent commitment thereunder. After the hearing of January 5, 1960, wherein the probationary status was fulfilled, the District Court retained and still retains the legal custody of the respondent. 77-62-29 sets forth that:

“The legal custody of all probationers is vested in the chief agent and the court having jurisdiction of the offender.”

The fact that Chesnut was placed under the custody and supervision of his bondsman, Mr. McCarthy, is of no moment in considering the primary question of the District Court's jurisdiction to proceed in the case.

By all odds, the proceedings before the court on January 5, 1960 resulted in Chesnut being placed on probation, however uncertain the terms of probation may have been. This was the understanding of the court; it was the understanding of the District Attorney; it was the understanding of the bondsman, Mr. McCarthy, and it was the understanding of the respondent. Subsequently, it was disclosed to the District Attorney by officers of the Salt Lake City Police Department that Chesnut was seriously implicated in the burglary of a business establishment in Salt Lake City (R. 13, 14, 15, 16) on January 26, 1960, barely 21 days after the hearing before the District Court. Such information constituted the basis for the motion, upon behalf of the State, for an order to show cause why probation should not be revoked and commitment issue. Said motion, taken together with the accompanying affidavits, is entirely in

accord with the procedural steps outlined by this Court as a requisite to due process of law:

“A defendant out of prison on probation is accorded due process of law by the following steps, all of which were followed in this case: (1) The filing of a verified statement or an affidavit in the case setting forth facts which show a violation of the terms of probation. (2) The issuance of an order to show cause and citation thereon requiring the defendant to appear and show cause why probation should not be revoked, apprising defendant of the ground or grounds on which revocation is sought, and specifying a proper time for hearing. (3) A hearing before the court on the question of violation of some term or condition of probation, at which the defendant has the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses against him and also to present evidence to refute the claimed violation of the condition of probation. (4) A determination of the question, followed by entry of an appropriate order. *State v. Zolantakis*, *supra*.” (*State v. Bonza*, 106 Utah 553, 150 P. 2d 970, (1944).

The failure, therefore, of the District Court to grant and forthwith issue the order to show cause injures and seriously restricts the effective administration of the criminal law in this state, and amounts to reversible error subject to review by this Court.

POINT II.

EVEN WERE IT ASSUMED THAT THE ORDER SUSPENDING EXECUTION OF SENTENCE WAS INVALID, VOID OR UNCERTAIN, SUCH ORDER DOES NOT AFFECT THE FINALITY OR VALIDITY OF THE JUDG-

MENT AND SENTENCE PREVIOUSLY ENTERED BY THE COURT.

The order of the District Court in its deferment or stay of execution under the judgment, as announced, required the respondent to remain within the control and supervision of Jack McCarthy, his bondsman. Even were it to be assumed that this segment of the order was ineffective or void as being inconsistent and against the provisions of 77-62-29, U. C. A. 1953, such has no effect upon the validity and enforcibility of the valid and enforceable portion of the judgment. As to the latter, the judgment and sentence may be carried into effect and further proceedings may be had relative to the station of the respondent. *Reese v. Olsen*, 44 Utah 318, 139 Pac. 941. The Supreme Court of Idaho, in passing upon a case of similar identity, stated:

“* * * By the great weight of authority where the court makes an unauthorized order suspending the execution of the sentence imposed by the judgment, such order does not prevent the subsequent enforcement of the valid portion of the sentence at a later date.” (*Ex Parte Jennings*, 267 Pac. 227 (Idaho 1928)).

The basis for this holding is, of course, that the invalid suspension of the execution of sentence in no way affects the finality and validity of the judgment of the court, which, in this case, imprisoned Chesnut in the State Prison of Utah for a term of not less than one nor more than 20 years for the crime of second degree burglary, and for the term of not less than one nor more than 10 years for the crime of grand larceny, such sentences to be concurrent.

The Supreme Court of Colorado, by decision, is also devoted to the proposition that the judgment and sentence may be executed subsequently notwithstanding a previous invalid effort to suspend execution of sentence. *In Re Nottingham*, 268 Pac. 587 (Colo. 1928). Citing 16 C. J., p. 1335, the Colorado Court said:

“The invalidity of the attempt to suspend execution of the sentence does not affect the validity of the sentence of imprisonment; that sentence may be enforced even after the expiration of the court term, and even after the expiration of six months from the date of sentence, which was the time of imprisonment specified in the sentence.”

The majority rule is also stated as above in 24 C. J. S., Sec. 1618b(10) (b).

The District Court is therefore within its province, if probation be void or ineffective, to issue a commitment forthwith, for the judgment of the District Court can only be fulfilled judicially by satisfying its requirements. *Ex Parte Jennings*, supra.

POINT III.

THE ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE IS TANTAMOUNT TO A PARDON, THE RESULT OF WHICH LIES WITHOUT THE PROVINCE, POWER OR AUTHORITY OF THE JUDICIARY.

If the view entertained by the District Court herein be accurate with respect to Chesnut in its denial of the

State's motion for an order to show cause, and if the court fails or refuses to exercise its continuing jurisdiction over the respondent, the final product would be to award to the latter a pardon of not one, but of both offenses to which he had formerly plead guilty. The rule is so well established in this state that the pardoning power is the exclusive function of the Board of Pardons, that it is only for the purpose of the record that authorities be listed. *Cardisco v. Davis, et al.*, 91 Utah 323, 64 P. 2d 216; *State ex rel. Bishop v. State Board of Corrections*, 16 Utah 478, 52 Pac. 1090; Utah Constitution, Art. VII, Sec. 12. As a necessary corollary to this principle, *State v. Blackburn*, 6 Utah 347, 23 P. 759, holds that the authority to relieve a party from the conviction of a crime does not reside with the judiciary.

The status of probation which Chesnut has attained is not a game of "hide and seek" played by and between the State of Utah and the probationer. The underlying theory of probation is rehabilitation and establishment as a law-abiding citizen and is so proclaimed in the *Baine and Zolantakis* cases, *supra*. In the event that the probationer proves unfaithful to his trust and the obligations to the court and society, it becomes the duty of the District Court to inquire into such unfaithfulness; it would only meet the test of substantial justice and serve the legitimate enforcement of the criminal law in this state for the order of the District Court denying the State's motion to be reversed and the case remanded to the lower court for further proceedings under a show cause order.

CONCLUSION

The deferment of execution of sentence as to Sherrill Chesnut under proceedings had in open court on January 5, 1960, effectually placed the latter on probation subject to the continuing jurisdiction of the District Court to review, modify or revoke such probation on proper showing. Upon application and motion of the District Attorney for an order to show cause why further stays should not be granted and commitment issue, coupled with the affidavits of the officers of the Salt Lake City Police Department, the District Court should issue a show cause order as to the probationer and inquire into the faithfulness of his conduct.

If this Court shall determine that the suspended execution of sentence was void, ineffective, or so uncertain as to be unenforcible, then the District Court should be directed to order that the respondent be committed to the State Prison, State of Utah, pursuant to and in accordance with the judgment and sentence of the District Court.