1960

State of Utah v. Sherrill Z. Chesnut : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Also, in *Kourbetts v National Copper Bank*, 71 Utah 232, 264 Pac. 724, 725, a final judgment is said to be one that:

"terminates the litigation between the parties on the merits of the case, and leaves nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined."

And in *Oldroyd v McCrea* 65 Utah 142, 235 P 580, the court said:

"Under our Constitution and Statute an appeal lies only from a final judgment. This court in numerous cases has held that a judgment to be final for purposes of an appeal must dispose of the case as to all of the parties and finally dispose of the subject matter of the litigation on the merits, or be a termination of the particular proceeding or action, or, as sometimes expressed, the case put out of court."

And the court, through Justice Wolfe, in

Attorney General of Utah v Pomeroy, 93

Utah 426, 73 P2d 1277, 1286, said:

"The paramount policy of the law is to permit litigants to obtain review of the rulings of trial courts. There is another policy almost equally potent, that is, that cases shall not be appealed piecemeal or in installments."

While none of these cases attempt to say specifically what orders are final and therefore appealable, they do attempt to lay down the considerations and policy on which it may be determined whether an order is final for purposes of appeal.

In the case of Attorney General of Utah v Pomeroy, supra, and subsequent cases, this court has attempted to make clear that a strictly literal interpretation of the constitutional provision relating to appeals was improper and that some orders may operate in such a manner that an appeal is the proper and, possibly,

the only remedy a litigant may have if he is to be relieved of some 'palpable or irremediable injustice'.

The interpretation now seems to be that if the district court has jurisdiction of a matter, an appeal should not be made available from every order of the court as it would unnecessarily prolong the action. It is better to have the remedies of the district court exhausted and then on appeal all alleged errors could be corrected or reviewed. As Justice Crockett stated in *Olsen v District Court of the Second Judicial District*, 106 Utah 220, 147 P2d 471, 473:

"The proper and orderly procedure requires that when a court has jurisdiction of the suit, it should go ahead and complete the litigation. When this is accomplished, an appeal can be taken so that the appellate court may then review all alleged

errors in one proceeding. This orderly process should not be interfered with, unless it is urgently necessary to prevent some palpable and irremediable injustice."

In the present case it is conceded that the district court had jurisdiction over the defendant by virtue of its order for probation. The statute, 77-35-17, contemplates that the defendant should remain under the jurisdiction of the district court and it is clear that probation was granted by virtue of this statute. The order denying the state's motion for an order to show cause did not end that court's jurisdiction nor did it place the defendant out of the control of the court. The effect of such an order was merely to say that the state's motion on its face stated no grounds on which such an order could issue. It was and is

necessary for the state to proceed in a different manner until they have, in the words of our leading cases 'finally disposed of the subject-matter of the litigation' or the 'case put out of court' before the matter is ripe for appeal.

The state has not attempted to exhaust ^a its remedies at the district court level as is impliedly advised in our past court decision but attempts to appeal from an order which does not possess the finality required by the state constitution and case law.

Some of the orders which have been held not subject to appeal include an order granting or denying a motion for a new trial, *White v Pense* 15 Utah 170, 49 Pac. 416; *Nelson v Southern Pacific RR* 15 Utah 325, 49 Pac. 644; *Eastman v Curry*

14 Utah 169, 46 Pac. 828; Stubbs v Third Judicial District Court, 106 Utah 539, 150 P2d 783; Candland v. Mellen, 46 Utah 514, 151 Pac. 341; also, orders dismissing a complaint; Robison v Fillmore Commercial and Savings Bank, 61 Utah 368, 213 Pac. 790; and orders of non-suit, Lukich v Utah Construction Company, 46 Utah 317, 150 Pac. 298.

The question becomes one of how does the lower court's order in the present case fit within the general classification of those listed above and, therefore, is not appealable. One of the important aspects of the cases listed above and the cases attempting to define, generally, what is an appealable order is that no disposition is made on the merits of the case. The court in making its order overruling the State's motion made no

determination as to the actual merits of the case but based its order on Jurisdictional grounds; that is, the motion itself did not state facts sufficient to give the lower court jurisdiction over the matter. Another aspect to be considered in determining whether an order possesses the finality required by the state constitution and statutes is whether the parties by virtue of the order are placed in a position different from their original position and, if so, can they be placed in their original position. If not, then an appeal should lie for the order is final enough to put the parties in a position different from the one they were in originally and one from which they cannot extricate themselves. In the orders of the cases listed above and the present order, the parties have not been dislodged of their original positions.

Before the state's motion was denied, the state was in a position to move for commitment to prison if a violation of the terms and conditions occurred and they still may do so; prior to the court order, the state was in a position to move to have the terms and conditions of probation modified, amended or made more definite and they still may do so. The position of the state has not changed and the defendant's position remains the same--he is still within the jurisdiction of the lower court and still under the terms and conditions imposed by that court; he may be committed to the state prison if he is shown to have violated the orders of that court.

This order is similar to those listed above for another reason. In the cases listed above, each time there is another

avenue ⁴among which the party may proceed; i.e. the filing of a new complaint which does state a cause of action, the filing of an amended complaint, or an appeal from the original judgment. In the instant case the state, had an alternative, also. It could have moved under 77-35-17, U. C. A. 1953, to have the terms and conditions of probation modified; it could have asked the court for an order detaining more particularly the terms and conditions of probation and the record shows that it did request the court to include certain language when the court made its order granting probation, or ti could have filed a new motion setting forth facts which indicated that a term or condition of probation had been violated, or it could have prosecuted on the alleged offense. And, further, even though the state has found it

necessary to attempt an appeal in this particular case, the alternative remedies above remain available to them.

The order of the lower court does not possess the qualities of a 'final judgment' and should not be made appealable.

It is contended that review is not now properly before the court and it should refuse to entertain the appeal on jurisdictional grounds.

POINT II

THE STATE'S MOTION, ON ITS FACE, DID NOT STATE GROUNDS ON WHICH AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE COULD ISSUE AND, THEREFORE, WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

a. MOTION DID NOT SHOW VIOLATION OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF PROBATION.

b. THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF PROBATION SHOULD NOT BE ENLARGED SUBSE-

QUENTLY TO THE TIME THEY ARE IMPOSED

BY THE ORDER OF THE COURT TO INCLUDE
A PARTICULAR COURSE OF CONDUCT OF THE
PERSON ON PROBATION.

The second contention of respondent concerns itself with the original order of the district court imposing the terms and conditions of probation and the failure of the state to show violation of such terms and conditions.

The brief of appellant (P.3) and the record on appeal (R.22-23) both disclose the order of the court in suspending sentence and placing respondent on probation. Essentially, the court imposed three conditions; to wit:

(1) That respondent remain in the strict custody and supervision of his bondsman, Jack McCarthy.

(2) That respondent remain outside

(3) That the respondent report to the court on his stay date, March 14th.

The fact that respondent was placed on probation pursuant to 77-35-17, U. C. A. 1953 of the Utah Statutes imposed no conditions other than those incorporated in the order of the court to which reference has been made. The statute reads in part as follows:

"Upon a plea of guilty on conviction of any crime or offense, if it appears compatible with the public interest, the court having jurisdiction may suspend the imposition or the execution of sentence and may place the defendant on probation for such period of time as the court shall determine.

"The court may subsequently increase or decrease the probation period, and may revoke or modify any condition of probation. While on probation the defendant may be required to pay, in one or several sums, any fine imposed at the time of being placed on probation; may be required to make restitution or reparation to the aggrieved party or parties for the action, damages or losses caused by the offense

to which the defendant has pleaded guilty or for which conviction was had; and may be required to provide for the support of his wife or others for whose support he may be legally liable. ..."

At no place does this statute attempt to impose the terms or conditions of probation, it only lists certain situations which may arise and attempt to cover them. As the statute provides no conditions or terms for the probationer to follow, the court must itself impose the terms and conditions it deems advisable in a particular case. It is well known that often the court will place a probationer under the control of the adult probation and parole department and require that he follow the conditions imposed by them. In this situation it is often required, that he sign a statement acknowledging that he has been apprised of the type of conduct expected of him by the probation department and, through them, the court.

It is considered to be the better rule that the terms and conditions be specific and incorporated in the order of the court when it grants probation.

In *Ex Parte Hamm* 172 Pac. 190, LRA 1918D, 694 the court of New Mexico was concerned with a problem similar to ours in this case. There the defendant had been sentenced for violation of the New Mexico gambling law. The sentence was suspended on 'good behavior'. Later the state sought to have the probation revoked on the grounds that the defendant had been involved in gambling activities. The Supreme Court on appeal made the following statements:

"Restrictions upon the conduct of one convicted of a criminal offense and upon whom sentence has been suspended should be specified in the order of suspension where, by statute, the court has broad power to determine in each particular case the terms upon which sentence shall be suspended..."

"The district court evidently believed that the petitioner when the sentence was suspended promised him that he would quit gambling, but the order of suspension contains no such restriction upon petitioner's conduct. The court speaks only through its record, and this record is what this court must act upon. If the district court desired to enforce this restriction as one of the conditions of the suspension of the sentence, the order should have so specified."

"It should be observed in this connection that no fine distinctions are to be drawn for the purpose of curtailing the discretion and powers of the district courts in these matters. All that we hold is that, if restrictions upon the conduct of defendant are to be imposed, they must be specified in the order of suspension."

This is, perhaps, the clearest state-

ment we have dealing with the problem and expresses the view respondent believes should be adopted by this court. New Mexico, however, has one later case which, while we do not believe it affects the case before the court, should be mentioned. In *Ex Parte Selig*, 223 Pac. 98, 29 N.M. 430, the Supreme Court once again stated that the

terms and conditions must be prescribed by the court:

"... it leaves it entirely with such courts to determine for themselves the terms and conditions upon which a sentence in each case may be suspended: But a careful consideration of the language used by the legislature leads to but one interpretation, namely, that it does require the court to set forth in such an order the terms and conditions upon which the sentence is suspended..."

The court then went on to say that as the petitioner had been apprised of the conditions of probation prior to the order suspending sentence, was represented by an attorney, it was upon him to ask for more particular terms and conditions to be included in the order. This holding is questionable, at best, as the New Mexico court recognized that the statute contemplated that the terms and conditions should be incorporated in the order of suspension. Nevertheless, we think our case falls without this holding for several reasons, the main

one being that certain definite terms and conditions were imposed by the order. The court having made an order containing the terms and conditions of probation, should the defendant be required to ask the court to impose other or different terms. We think not. The court is permitted in its discretion to impose the terms it finds proper and if the defendant were to object to them it is highly improbable they would be removed; why then should he be required to have more terms and conditions imposed by the court once the court has made its determination of what terms and conditions of probation are suitable.

As indicated, we believe this case fits within the policy of the New Mexico cases above but falls outside the holding of Ex Parte Selig on its facts alone and, also, on the grounds that the holding of ex Parte Selig is not clear and should be limited to the facts of that case.

The Supreme Court of Idaho has had an opportunity to consider the problem with which we are concerned and seems to have accepted the position advanced by the respondent here.

In *Ex Parte Medley*, 73 Ida. 474, 253 P2d 794, the court was concerned with a person whose probationary status the state sought to revoke. There the court said:

"Here, it appears that it is the duty of the judge at the outset to inform the defendant as to the conditions and terms of his probation and to instruct and advise him of the conduct expected on his part. While great latitude is vested in the judge in these respects in that he may fix such terms and conditions as he in his sound discretion deems necessary and expedient, yet there must be terms and conditions set forth. This court has held that the statute requires that the terms upon which judgment is withheld be made a part of the order in writing..."

And this court itself has hinted at the proposition that the terms and conditions of probation should be clearly set out. In *Baine v. Beckstead*, __Utah__, 347 P2d 554, 558 the court stated:

"...for this purpose (speaking of the probationary status) the defendant is required to agree to specified standards of conduct...the freedom he enjoys is limited and is subject to revocation for violation of the prescribed conditions." (emphasis ours)

We have already referred to the terms and conditions of probation in the instant case. The state's motion on which it sought its order to show cause did not allege that the respondent failed to remain in the custody and supervision of his bondsman, nor did it allege that respondent had returned to Sevier County, nor did it allege that respondent failed to appear on March 14. These were the only terms imposed by the court and if the state's motion failed to allege a violation of one of these items, their motion, on its face, failed to establish grounds for the district court to enter an order to show cause why the probation should not be revoked.

While the court may under 77-35-17, U.

of probation, this should be done only on proper application. It is not within the court's power to modify or change the conditions of probation, so that it will cover an act, the commission of which did not violate at the time any of the specified terms of probation. The specification of the terms and conditions of probation becomes important at this point for if the state is permitted to proceed with its motion and order they will seek to have the court impose a new condition of probation and contend that such a condition was impliedly part of the original order of the court conferring probation upon the respondent.

It may be said by the state that the respondent well knew he was not to commit the act on which the state based its motion below whether or not it was a specific condition of probation. While we concede that one should know the difference between right

and wrong, we do not agree that this is one of the implied conditions of probation but contend that the conditions of probation must be specific and incorporated in the order of the court. If we might be permitted an indulgence, let us consider a few situations which could occur. Suppose the respondent had gotten intoxicated; suppose he had been found to be away from home at three o'clock in the morning; suppose he was frequently in the company of ex-convicts; suppose he was arrested and convicted of driving without a valid driver's license. It is contended that none of these acts would violate the terms and conditions of probation which were imposed in the instant case. While it may be argued that the nature of the specific act complained of here is more serious, it should not be forgotten that basic principles of justice and law are controlling. In the suppositions above, if

there is no violation of the terms and conditions of probation, equal application of the law requires a finding and holding by the court that there is no violation in the actual case before the court and that the lower court was correct in denying to issue the order to show cause demanded by the state.

Should the lower court be ordered to issue the order requested, it would, of necessity, be ordered to impose new conditions and terms of probation. While we concede that the court may impose new conditions, this should be done only on proper application and through proceedings designed to accomplish this purpose. The state should not be permitted in this case to use an abortive procedure to have the terms and conditions of probation changed and at the same time, possibly, send respondent to prison for violation of a con-

dition of probation not existing at the time he allegedly committed the act complained of by the state in its motion below.

CONCLUSION

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